0/a 9-1-+7

28

ΤN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA
----	-----	---------	-------	----	---------

CASE NO. 70,524

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the district court of appeal. It will be referred to as the Department in this brief. The appendix to the petitioner's brief will be referred to as "A".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The respondents, plaintiffs in the trial court, filed an inverse condemnation action claiming that the destruction of their citrus plants by the State, in an effort to eradicate citrus canker, constituted a taking. (A-178)

The Department, defendant in the trial court, contended that the action of the State, in its efforts to eradicate citrus canker, was a valid exercise of its police power.

A pretrial hearing was conducted to determine whether a taking of respondents' property occurred. The trial judge ruled that, since there were no positive findings of canker in the plants destroyed, there was no justification for their destruction and, therefore, a taking had occurred requiring compensation. (A-188)

The Department appealed the trial court's order to the Second District Court of Appeal and the district court affirmed the finding of the trial court but certified, as a matter of great public importance, the following question:

Whether the State, pursuant to its police power, has the constitutional authority to destroy healthy, but suspect citrus plants without compensation?

The Department filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction in this court.

During 1984, respondents operated citrus nurseries in Hardee County, Florida. In April, 1984, respondents obtained citrus budwood from Ward's Nursery, a citrus nursery in Polk

County. On August 27, 1984, a form of citrus canker was discovered at Ward's Nursery. On September 6, 1984, the Department obtained samples from respondents' nurseries. No positive canker findings were made. (A-191) After a recommendation by the Citrus Canker Technical Advisory Committee, an Immediate Final Order was directed to respondents for the destruction of citrus plants which had been received or propagated from Ward's Nursery and which had been exposed to canker. The Immediate Final Order provided in part:

The Citrus Canker Technical Advisory Committee has recommended, and the department adopted by emergency rules, treatment and eradication procedures for nurseries which received citrus trees from nurseries or stock dealers declared infested or infected with citrus canker. The department will implement those procedures in Mid-Florida Growers, Inc.

Mid-Florida Growers, Inc. is hereby designated a treatment or eradication area within the meaning of Emergency Rules 5BER84-8 and 5BER84-9, Florida Administrative Code.

All plants in Mid-Florida Growers, Inc. received from a nursery or stock dealer declared infested or infected with citrus canker will be destroyed by burning or by other methods prescribed by the department or the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA).

In addition, all citrus plants within one hundred twenty five (125) feet of such plants will also be destroyed in like manner.

(A-213.)

The Immediate Final Order directed to Mid-Florida Growers, Inc. is identical to the Immediate Final Order directed to Himrod & Himrod Citrus Nursery. (A-212) From October 7 to October 19, 1984, the Department burned the specified citrus plants of the respondents. (A-191)

A total of eight nurseries obtained citrus materials from Ward's Nursery. All eight received Immediate Final Orders and destruction was carried out in the identical manner as with the respondents. (A-123)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court ignored the emergency rules, disagreed with the decision making authorities as to the need to destroy suspect citrus plants, and held since there was no justification for such destruction, a taking of respondents' property occurred requiring compensation. Contrary to the law, the trial court substituted its judgment for that of the decision making authorities.

The respondents did not challenge the propriety of the destruction of suspect plants prior to filing in circuit court. Case law holds that a party in an inverse condemnation proceeding may not challenge the propriety of the State's exercise of its police power.

When the State exercises its police power in conformance with applicable statutes and rules, the court may not substitute its judgment as to the wisdom of the police power action.

To hold that a taking of respondents' property had occurred requiring compensation because of the magnitude of the loss suffered and because the impact of the loss falls upon a few is unsound and not founded in the law.

Case law holds, that where there is a valid exercise of police power to prevent a public harm, and the government has no possessory or proprietary interest in the property neither the magnitude of the loss nor the fact the burden of the loss rests upon a few is a basis for finding that a taking has occurred requiring compensation.

ISSUES

I.

THE PROPRIETY OF AN EXERCISE OF POLICE POWER MAY NOT BE CHALLENGED IN AN INVERSE CONDEMNATION PROCEEDING.

II.

WHEN THE PURPOSE OF DESTROYING PRIVATE PROPERTY IN THE EXERCISE OF POLICE POWER IS TO PREVENT A PUBLIC HARM, AND THE STATE HAS NO PROPRIETARY INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY, THERE IS NO TAKING REQUIRING COMPENSATION.

ISSUE I

THE PROPRIETY OF AN EXERCISE OF POLICE POWER MAY NOT BE CHALLENGED IN AN INVERSE CONDEMNATION PROCEEDING.

The need to thwart the spread of citrus canker was of such urgency to the citrus industry and the welfare of the State as to require the exercise of police power measures to destroy suspect and exposed citrus plants.

It has long been held that the citrus industry is of such vital import to the welfare and economy of this state that police power measures may be taken to safeguard the industry.

Flake v. State, Department of Agriculture, 383 So.2d 285, 288 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), quoting State, Department of Citrus v. Griffin, 239 So.2d 577, 578 (Fla. 1970).

In <u>Conner v. Joe Hatton</u>, Inc., 216 So.2d 209 (Fla. 1968), the Court stated:

The protection of a large industry constituting one of the great sources of the state's wealth and therefore directly or indirectly affecting the welfare of so great a portion of the population of the state is affected to such an extent by public interest as to be within the police power of the sovereign.

Id. at 213.

Section 581.031(17), Florida Statutes (1983), authorizes the Department:

To supervise, or cause to be supervised, the treatment, cutting, and destruction of plants, plant parts, fruit, soil, containers, equipment, and other articles capable of harboring plant pests or noxious

weeds, if they are infested or located in an area which may be suspected of being infested or infected due to its proximity to a known infestation, or if they came from a situation where they were reasonably exposed to infestation, when necessary to prevent or control the dissemination of plant pests or noxious weeds or to eradicate same and to make rules therefor.

The Citrus Canker Technical Advisory Committee, composed of representatives of the citrus industry, nurserymen, the scientific community, the Florida Department of Agriculture and the United States Department of Agriculture, promulgated emergency rules directed to the eradication of citrus canker. These are Emergency Rules 5BER84-8 and 5BER84-9. (A-200-211)

Subsection (1)(t) of Emergency Rule 5BER84-9 defines a suspect citrus canker infested or infected plant as:

A plant which has been subjected to infestation or infection by its presence in an infected area or having been removed from an infested area within a given period of time.

Subsection (4)(a) provides:

All citrus trees from any nursery or stockdealer declared infested or infected since January 1, 1984, are considered as infested or infected plants.

The procedures for eradication are set forth in paragraphs

(5) (a) and (b) and direct the Department to destroy by

burning or other methods as may be prescribed by the USDA or

the department, suspect citrus canker infested or infected

plants and all citrus plants within 125 feet of suspect citrus canker infested or infected plants. (A-209-210)

A citrus plant that has been in the presence of or exposed to nursery stock infected or infested with canker is not a healthy tree. Referring to the destroyed nursery stock as "healthy but suspect" is a contradiction in terms.

The sole basis for the trial court's finding that a taking occurred was:

No competent evidence supports the State's concern that the Plaintiffs' nursery stock was infected or diseased so as to justify destruction. . . . The Plaintiffs' careful methods of operation and the fact that no citrus canker in any form was discovered in the Plaintiffs' nursery stock, leads to the Legal conclusion that no citrus canker was present.

(A-188.)

The trial court ignored the emergency rules in its order of taking.

The effect of the trial court's order is to allow a challenge to the propriety of the Department's action in destroying the nursery stock.

The propriety of the Department's action may not be challenged in an inverse condemnation proceeding.

Key Haven Associated Enterprises, Inc. v. Board of

Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, 427 So.2d

153 (Fla. 1982), involved a dredge and fill permit denial on the basis that the project would destroy all of the aquatic

life in the area. Key Haven did not challenge the DER order, but, instead, filed suit in circuit court alleging that the denial of the permit amounted to a taking by inverse condemnation because the denial deprived the property owners of any beneficial use. The Supreme Court held:

We emphasize that, by electing the circuit court as the judicial forum, a party foregoes any opportunity to challenge the permit denial as improper and may not challenge the agency action as arbitrary or capricious or in failing to comply with the intent and purposes of the statute.

427 So.2d at 160 (emphasis added).

In <u>Albrecht_v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 8, 12 (Fla. 1984), the Court was again dealing with a dredge and fill permit issue. The Court held:

The point is that the propriety of the agency action must be finally determined before a claim for inverse condemnation exists.

In <u>Atlantic International Investment Corp. v. State</u>,
478 So.2d 805, 807 (Fla. 1985), the Supreme Court held:

[O]nce a party agrees to the propriety of the action and chooses the circuit court forum, it is estopped from any further denial that the action itself was proper.

In the instant case respondents initially accepted the propriety of the Department's action and filed in circuit court claiming that the action of the Department amounted to a taking. Perhaps the decision to accept the propriety of the action was based on Nordmann v. Florida Department of

Agriculture and Consumer Services, 473 So.2d 278 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), and Denney v. Conner, 462 So.2d 534 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

In <u>Nordmann</u> the order to destroy trees which were only suspect because of their origin was challenged on the basis that the State did not have authority to destroy apparently healthy trees without the payment of compensation.

The district court held that citrus canker presents an imminent danger to the citrus industry. The court said:

No real controversy exists on the critical fact that citrus canker may be transmitted by both natural (wind and rain) and artificial (man and machinery) means and that it may lay dormant in apparently healthy plants for some months
. . . after exposure to infected plants before manifesting signs of the disease.

Those circumstances underlie the department's conclusion that, even though the plants appear healthy and at this time evidence no sign of citrus canker, appellants' plants still present an imminent danger in the spread of the disease since they have been exposed to infested or infected plants.

473 So.2d at 280 (emphasis added).

In <u>Denney</u> it was contended that since the order did not recite that the trees in question manifested signs of canker infection, there was no immediate danger and, hence, destruction of "healthy" trees would violate the owner's constitutional right to due process.

The right to destroy citrus plants without positive findings of canker was judicially determined in Nordmann and

<u>Denney</u> as was the fact that citrus canker is an invidious nuisance.

The trial court's finding that there was no justification for the destruction of respondents' citrus plants and the affirmance of the order by the district court both constitute a challenge to the propriety of the Department's exercise of its police power in an inverse condemnation proceeding and such a challenge is contrary to the law. In substituting its judgment for the judgment of the decision making authorities, the trial court exceeded the permissible bounds of judicial review.

ISSUE II

WHEN THE PURPOSE OF DESTROYING PRIVATE PROPERTY IN THE EXERCISE OF POLICE POWER IS TO PREVENT A PUBLIC HARM, AND THE STATE HAS NO PROPRIETARY INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY, THERE IS NO TAKING REQUIRING COMPENSATION.

In Albrecht v. State, 444 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1984), the Court held that "a regulation or statute may meet the standards necessary for exercise of the police power, but still result in a taking."

One of the most frequently cited cases standing for the proposition that an exercise of police power may in some instances amount to a taking is Pennsylvania Coal Company v.
Mahon, 260 U.S. 393 (1922).

The factual distinctions between <u>Pennsylvania Coal</u> and the instant case render the principle of law enunicated inapplicable because (1) the case involved a traditional concept of real property law, i.e., the reservation of subsurface rights in a transfer of title, and (2) the statute prohibiting the mining of the subsurface was challenged and the statute was held to be unconstitutional.

Justice Holmes, writing for the majority, said:

It is our opinion that the act cannot be sustained as an exercise of the police power, so far as it affects the mining of coal under streets or cities in places where the right to mine such coal has been reserved.

In the instant case, there is no challenge to the constitutionality of the statute and rules involved, and both the trial court and the district court determined that the actions of the Department constituted a valid exercise of the police powers.

The district court fortified its opinion by citing
United States Supreme Court decisions. The district court
misread these cases. The cases make it clear that neither
the magnitude of the loss suffered nor the fact that the
economic burden falls upon a few is a basis for finding a
taking requiring compensation when there is a proper exercise
of police power.

The magnitude of the loss theory is believed to have started with Justice Holmes in early United States Supreme Court decisions on this issue. However, as one commentator points out, the Holmes premise that the right to compensation depends on the magnitude of the loss suffered is historically unsound, has never, in fact, been acceptable to the Court, and wasn't even followed by Holmes himself. Sax, Takings and the Police Power, 74 Yale L.J. 36 (1964).

In <u>Miller v. Schoene</u>, 276 U.S. 272 (1928) the Virginia legislature enacted a statute requiring the destruction of red cedar trees in order to prevent the spread of a communicable plant disease to apple orchards nearby. The only method of controlling the disease and protecting apple

trees from the ravages of the cedar rust was the destruction of all red cedar trees subject to the infection located within two miles of apple orchards.

In reciting the economic importance of many millions of dollars invested in the orchards which furnished employment for a large portion of the population, the state had to choose between the preservation of the cedar trees or the apple orchards. The Court held:

When forced to such a choice, the State does not exceed its constitutional powers by deciding upon the destruction of one class of property in order to save another, which in the judgment of the legislature, is of greater value to the public.

. . . .

And where the public interest is involved preferment of that interest over the property interest of the individual, to the extent even of its destruction, is one of the distinguishing characteristics of every exercise of the police power which affects property.

276 U.S. at 279-280 (emphasis added). Despite the magnitude of the loss suffered and the fact that the economic burden fell on a few, the action in destroying the cedar trees was a valid exercise of the police power and did not constitute a taking requiring compensation.

In addition to the case of <u>Pennsylvania Coal Co. v.</u>

<u>Mahon</u>, the most frequently cited cases on the issue of the exercise of police power versus a taking requiring

Compensation are Miller v. Schoene, 276 U.S. 272 (1928),

Armstrong v. United States, 364 U.S. 40 (1960), Goldblatt v.

Hempstead, 369 U.S. 590 (1962), United States v. Central

Eureka Mining Co., 357 U.S. 155 (1958), and Penn Central

Transportation Company v. New York City, 438 U.S. 104 (1978).

In <u>Goldblatt v. Hempstead</u> the town enacted an ordinance regulating dredging and excavating. It was contended that the ordinance effected a taking of property without due process. The Supreme Court held that regulation of the use of property to protect health and safety of the public is not a taking. The Court said:

The power which the States have of prohibiting such use by individuals of their property as will be prejudicial to the health, the morals, or the safety of the public, is not—and, consistently with the existence and safety of organized society, cannot be—burdened with the condition that the State must compensate such individual owners for pecuniary losses. . . .

369 U.S. at 133.

In <u>Penn Central Transportation Co. v. New York City</u>, the city, in an effort to preserve historic landmarks, enacted an ordinance restricting the development of landmarks. This ordinance was challenged as being a taking of property without compensation.

In holding that there was no taking requiring compensation, the Court said:

[I]n instances in which a state tribunal reasonably concluded that "the health,

safety, morals, or general welfare" would be promoted by prohibiting particular contemplated uses of land, this Court has upheld land-use regulations that destroyed or adversely affected recognized real property interests.

438 U.S. at 125.

In <u>United States v. Central Eureka Mining Co.</u>, the United States closed certain gold mines for the purpose of obtaining miners to go into essential war jobs. In denying there was a taking requiring compensation, the Court held:

The government did not occupy, use, or in any manner take physical possession of the gold mines or equipment connected with them.

356 U.S. at 165-166.

In Armstrong v. United States, the United States contracted for the building of ships with the provision that if the shipbuilder defaulted, title to the ships would pass to the United States. Materialmen placed liens on the ships. The United States claimed soveriegn immunity making the liens unenforceable. The Court held that the extinguishing of the liens constituted a taking requiring compensation. It is important to note that, in this case, the government had a proprietary interest in the ships.

There is one thread that runs through all of the cases, and that is when a taking is denied, action of the government was to prevent a public harm and the government did not have a possessory or proprietary interest in the property involved.

So it is with the Florida cases as exemplified by <u>Key</u>

<u>Haven</u> and <u>Graham v. Estuary Properties</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 399 So.2d 1374

(Fla. 1981).

Estuary Properties specified some of the factors to be considered in determining whether there has been a valid exercise of the police power or a taking requiring compensation:

- 1. Whether there is a physical invasion of the property.
- 2. The degree to which there is a diminution in value of the property. Or stated another way, whether the regulation precludes all economically reasonable use of the property.
- 3. Whether the regulation confers a public benefit or prevents a public harm.
- 4. Whether the regulation promotes the health, safety, welfare, or morals of the public.
- 5. Whether the regulation is arbitrarily and capriciously applied.
- 6. The extent to which the regulation curtails investment-backed expectations.

<u>Id</u>. at 1380.

In the instant case the respondents' property was physically invaded and a portion of the citrus stock was destroyed. However, there can be no question that the goal of the canker eradication program is to prevent a public harm and that the action taken was to promote the economic welfare of an industry vital to the State of Florida, and that the action was taken to promote the public welfare.

The action was neither arbitrary nor capricious. This was not a unilateral action taken by the Department, but action taken after deliberation by an advisory committee consisting of individuals from industry, universities, and governmental entities. It was not arbitrary in that all nurseries which had received stock from the infected nurseries were treated similarly.

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