IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, <u>DEPARTMENT</u> OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES,

Petitioner,

vs.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is well-settled that governmental action may be within the police power and yet also constitute a taking for which just compensation is due. Exercise of regulatory authority does not excuse the constitutional obligation to pay just compensation upon outright destruction of valuable property by the government.

Whether a taking occurs is a factual inquiry determined from the facts of each case, and when there is a physical invasion of property, courts readily find a taking.

The Circuit and Appellate Courts below correctly found that destruction of virtually all of Plaintiffs' healthy citrus plants without payment of just compensation was a taking. The small amount of any material possibly exposed to the mild canker strain present at Ward's Nursery, the particular methods of budding used, the nonappearance of canker during the optimal growing season, and the other attendant circumstances, precluded any possible presence or accumulation of inoculum significant enough to cause The healthy condition of the plants were disease. dramatically confirmed because no canker has ever appeared in any of the 50,000 plants from Plaintiffs' nurseries relocated elsewhere between budding and burning, nor in any plants or grove trees adjacent to Plaintiffs' nurseries, nor at any location anywhere near Plaintiffs' nurseries.

The Department's emergency action was based on its good faith statement of justification at the time. However, that

-15-

statement is not determinative of actual facts established at evidentiary hearing in this subsequent condemnation proceeding. Plaintiffs' citrus plants were considered suspect to enable their immediate destruction based solely on a paper trace of budeyes taken from a nursery where infection was found five months later. This general suspicion, formulated in a panic atmosphere and under the false assumption that virulent Asiatic canker was involved, does not prove in an inverse condemnation suit the destroyed citrus trees were in fact diseased or in imminent danger of disease.

Destruction pursuant to the emergency rule, as applied to the facts of this case, was therefore a taking and would be unconstitutional unless just compensation were paid.

While no actual necessity required destruction of Plaintiffs' citrus trees, the Department caused their destruction in the exercise of economic police power as a precautionary measure to assure against any remote possibility of the spread of a disease of then unknown dimensions. There were less drastic means to accomplish this objective that would not unduly interfere with property rights, such as a temporary quarantine, or spray treatment or even removal of the budded plants from the nursery for observation. Having completely deprived Plaintiffs of their valuable property for public economic benefit, however, the Department effected a taking for which just compensation is constitutionally required.

-16-

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

WHETHER THE STATE MUST CONSTITUTIONALLY PAY JUST COMPENSATION FOR SUMMARY DESTRUCTION OF SUSPECT CITRUS PLANTS LATER SHOWN TO BE HEALTHY?

ARGUMENT

The Department contends that valid exercise of its police power precludes an inverse taking. This is not the law as the Second District opinion thoroughly explains. Moreover, the Supreme Court of the United States in Case No. 85-1199, <u>First English Evangelical Lutheran Church of</u> <u>Glendale v. Los Angeles County</u>, just decided on June 9, 1987, _____ U.S. ____, ____ S.Ct. _____ at Slip Op. at p.9, reiterates:

> "The basic understanding of the (fifth) Amendment makes clear that it is designed not to limit the governmental interference with property rights per se but rather to secure compensation in the event of otherwise proper interference amounting to a taking. Thus, government action that works a taking of property rights necessarily implicates the constitutional obligation to pay just compensation."

See also Loretto v. Teleprompter Manhattan T.V. Corp., 458 U.S. 415, 425, 102 S.Ct. 3164, 3170 (1982)(a taking may occur and suit for inverse condemnation proceed even if governmental action depriving Plaintiff of property was a valid exercise of police power); <u>San Diego Gas & Elec. Co.</u> v. San Diego, 450 U.S. 621, 648-49, 101 S.Ct. 1087 (1981)

(dissenting Op. of J. Brennan)²:

"[I]n Goldblatt v. Town of Hempstead, 369 U.S. 590, 8 L.Ed. 2d 130, 82 S.Ct. 987 (1961), . . . the Court cautioned: 'That is not to say, however, that governmental action in the form of regulation cannot be so onerous as to constitute a taking which constitutionally requires compensation.' Id., at 594, 8 L.Ed. 2d 130, 82 S.Ct 987. On many other occasions, the Court has recognized in passing the vitality of the general principle that a regulation can effect a Fifth Amendment "taking." See, e.g., <u>Prune Yard</u> <u>Shopping Center v. Robins, 447 U.S.</u> 74, 83, 64 L.Ed. 2d 741, 100 S.Ct. 2035 (1980); <u>Kaiser Aetna v. United States</u>, 4444 U.S. 164, [450 U.S. 649] 174, 62 L.Ed. 2d 332, 100 S.Ct 383 (1979); <u>Andrus v. Allard</u>, 444 U.S. 51, 65-66, 62 L.Ed. 2d 210, 100 S.Ct. 318 (1979); <u>United States v. Central Eureka Mining</u> Co., 357 U.S. 155, 168 2 L.Ed. 2d 1228, 78 S.Ct. 1097 (1958).

See also <u>Albrecht v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 8, 12 (Fla. 1984)(settled proposition that a regulation may meet standards necessary for the exercise of the police power but still result in a taking).

The Department contends that its emergency orders settled that Plaintiffs' nurseries were suspect and therefore not healthy. The emergency orders recite that Plaintiffs' nurseries presented imminent danger to the spread of canker and were an immediate threat to public

²Justice Brennan's dissenting opinion to the Court's refusal to accept jurisdiction in <u>San Diego Gas</u> was cited with approval by the majority opinion in <u>First English</u> <u>Evangelical Lutheran Church of Glendale v. Los Angeles</u> <u>County</u>, supra, Slip Op. at pp. 10 & 11.

health, safety and welfare. The Department says this adjudicates or estops any claim for inverse condemnation.

This Court has already rejected any such notion. <u>Albrecht v. State</u>, supra, 444 So.2d at 12. An inverse condemnation suit is separate and distinct from, and involves allegations unrelated to any challenge to the propriety of governmental action, and determination or concession that the government's action was authorized by statute or rule does not necessarily determine that there was no taking. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Dade County v. National Bulk Carriers,</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 450 So.2d 213, 215-16 (Fla. 1984); <u>Atlantic Int'l Inv.</u> <u>Corp. v.</u> State, 478 So.2d 805, 807 (Fla. 1985).

Plaintiffs do not challenge the Department's authority to act on an immediate basis to destroy plants with budeyes from a nursery where infection was discovered five months later, as well as plants within 125 feet thereof. These plants are considered "suspect" under the Department's emergency rule adopted in an atmosphere of uncertainty and perceived crisis.

But until this inverse condemnation proceeding, Plaintiffs had no opportunity for an evidentiary hearing and judicial review of the actual facts pertaining to destruction of their property. Indeed destruction began several days before the immediate burning orders were even reduced to writing.

Full due process normally must be extended before private property can be condemned or destroyed. <u>Rowland v.</u> <u>State</u>, 176 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1937). But in emergency

-19-

circumstances, due process occurs when a claim for inverse taking is heard. See <u>e.g. Plant Board v. Smith</u>, 110 So.2d 401, 407-08 (Fla. 1959) (emergency circumstances may justify summary action towards suspected plants because harm might be disseminated, but such action is subject to later judicial review).³

Emergency rules take effect upon compliance with the requirements of Florida Statute §120.54(9) including the agency's statement of facts it perceives requires emergency action. An emergency order similarly demands the agency's clear statement of sufficient reasons for an immediate serious danger. See Florida Statute §120.60(7). Whether the emergency order was in compliance with statutory requirements and appropriate at the time is not the issue in a later inverse taking action. For example, a sufficient statement of reasons for emergency suspension could not dictate the ultimate result of license revocation proceedings. Valid authority to take emergency action in broadly defined circumstances does not therefore immunize the Department from the constitutional obligation to pay just compensation if the actual facts upon later judicial review show that its action amounted to a taking.

-20-

³Also see <u>Connor v. Carlton</u>, 233 So.2d 324 (Fla. 1969), upholding summary destruction of cattle suspected to have the virulent disease of Brucellosis, but in the context of an authorizing statute, F.S. §585.09 et. seq., providing limited compensation for infected animals that are destroyed and full value compensation for those which are non-infected.

This was implicitly recognized in <u>Denney v. Connors</u>, 462 So.2d 534 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), which refused to stay the Department's emergency order for summary destruction of 3,500 apparently healthy citrus trees purchased from a nursery where canker was found. The emergency order recited that these suspect trees presented an imminent danger in the spread of canker which was easily transmitted. The Court specifically noted, however, that <u>only</u> the Department's police power to act on an emergency basis was being upheld, and that <u>no</u> determination was being made about whether the destroyed trees were in fact healthy or diseased, and that the issue of compensation was not being addressed.

It is notable that <u>Denney</u> implicitly recognized that an inverse taking may have occurred even where relocated trees were involved, not just small plant parts such as budeyes, and even where only the relocated trees were destroyed, not virtually all the plants at the relocated site.⁴

⁴Florida Statutes, §581.031(17) authorizes destruction of plants and plant parts that are infested with plant pests, or located near an area of known infestation, or came from a situation where they were reasonably exposed to infestation, when necessary to prevent or eradicate pests. The statute does not authorize destruction of the location to which possibly exposed plants or plant parts were transferred. Yet the Department's emergency rule extended destruction to virtually all non-exposed plants at the location to which exposed plant parts were transferred. Under the plain meaning of the statute, see <u>State Dept. of</u> <u>Business Reg. v. Salvation, Ltd.</u>, 452 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), most of plaintiff's citrus trees may have been destroyed beyond statutory authority. Compare F.S. §581.03(7) authorizing quarantines of <u>nurseries</u> likely to carry dangerous plant pests. This point is not material, however, since inverse condemnation lies even if the regulatory action was valid.

In <u>Nordman v. Florida Dept. of Agriculture</u>, 473 So.2d 278 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), involving a similar situation, 568 citrus plants were purchased from a citrus nursery where canker was found six months later. Following <u>Denney</u>, the Court upheld summary burning of those 568 plants and treatment of adjacent trees on an emergency basis. However, in the conclusion of the opinion, not quoted or referenced in the Department's Initial Brief, the Court specifically emphasized that its only holding was that the emergency order was adequately justified. "The appellate court did not attempt to determine whether the trees in question were in fact healthy or diseased, and did not address the issue of compensation." Id. at 280.

The inverse condemnation action below focused on these very points.

Physical Invasion of Property is a Taking

The Department contends that the destruction of property was not a taking because no possessory or proprietary interest passed to the State. But there is no such requirement.

A taking that deprives the owner of his right to use property can occur in a variety of ways, from excessive regulation to excessive overflight. <u>E.g. Askew v.</u> <u>Gables-by-the-Sea, Inc.</u>, 333 So.2d 56 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), <u>cert. den.</u> 345 So.2d 420 (Fla. 1977)(governmental interference causing loss of federal permit was an inverse

-22-

taking); <u>Zabel v. Pinellas Cty. Water & Nav. Auth.</u>, 171 So.2d 376 (Fla. 1965)(denial of property right to fill land was inverse taking absent proven overriding public necessity that granting permit to fill would materially and adversely affect the public interest).

The key is whether there is governmental interference with the property, the burden of which should be born in all fairness by the public as a whole. It is the owner's loss, not the government's gain, which measures the value of the property and imposes the constitutional obligation to pay just compensation. See e.g. <u>First English Evangelical</u> <u>Lutheran Church of Glendale v. County of Los Angeles</u>, supra, Slip Op. at 11 & 14.

In Loretto v. Telepromter Manhattan CATV. Corp., 458 U.S. 419, 441, 102 S.Ct. 3164, 3179 the Court said:

> "We affirm the traditional rule that a permanent physical occupation of property is a taking. In such a case the property owner entertains a historically rooted expectation of compensation, and the character of the invasion is qualitatively more intrusive than perhaps any other category of property regulation."

<u>Storer Cable T.V. of Florida, Inc. v. Summerwinds</u> <u>Apts. Associates, Ltd.</u>, 451 So.2d 1034, 1036 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984), followed <u>Loretto</u>, holding that courts uniformly find taking upon permanent physical occupation "<u>without regard</u> to whether the action achieves an important public benefit or has only minimal economic impact on the owner. * * * Such an

-23-

appropriation is perhaps the most serious form of invasion of a owners property interest."(e.s.)

In affirming the Third District's decision, this Court in <u>Storer Cable T.V. v. Summerwinds Apts.</u>, 493 So.2d 417, 419 (Fla. 1986) held:

> "After tracing more than a century of its applicable decision of law, the United States Supreme Court (in Loretto) reaffirmed the rule that 'a permanent physical occupation authorized by government is a taking without regard to the public interest that it may serve.' " (citation omitted).(e.s.)

There was no dispute in this case as to the degree of harm inflicted. The Department deprived Plaintiffs of all beneficial use of their property. There was no mere temporary restriction or impairment of use or decrease in value by regulation. Instead, there was a direct, physical invasion of property by destructive burning that confiscated all value. Such governmental action is readily considered a taking. See <u>e.g. United States v. Causby</u>, 328 U.S. 256, 66 S.Ct. 1062 (1946); <u>Pinellas County v. Brown</u>, 420 So.2d 308, 310 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982).

<u>No Actual Necessity to</u> <u>Destroy Plaintiffs' Property</u>

Since Plaintiffs' healthy citrus plants were destroyed by physical invasion, just compensation is constitutionally required. As stated in <u>Brazil v. Div. of Admin.</u>, 347 So.2d 755, 758 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977):

-24-

"The absolute destruction of property is an extreme exercise of the police power and is justified only within the narrow limits of actual necessity, unless the state chooses to pay compensation."

<u>C.f. Zabel v. Pinellas Cty Water & Nav. Auth.</u>, supra, 171 So.2d at 379 (total denial of property use constitutes a taking unless overriding public necessity is proven).

In <u>Corneal v. State Plant Bd.</u>, 95 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1957) this Court held that destruction of property was an extreme exercise of the police power and that just compensation must be paid when destruction was for precautionary purposes as opposed to actual harmful conditions:

> "In enacting regulatory measures which protect but do not destroy property, the law need not restrict itself to conditions actually harmful but may require precautions within the whole range of possible danger. (citations omitted). But the absolute destruction of property is an extreme exercise of the police power and is justified only within the narrowest limits of actual necessity, unless the State chooses to pay compensation." (e.s). Id. at 4.

The <u>Corneal</u> decision then cites examples of actual necessity justifying summary destruction without just compensation, <u>viz</u>: 1) domestic animals infected with contagious disease that are a menace to public safety; 2) a building in the path of a fire that must be destroyed to stop the course of the fire; and 3) fruit trees actually infected by a contagious disease which were or would soon be of no practical value to the owner. <u>Id.</u>, at 4-5.

-25-

But when healthy trees are destroyed as a precautionary measure to protect the healthy trees of other property owners, not because of actual proven necessity, this Court firmly held in <u>Corneal</u> that just compensation is constitutionally required:

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